FILED 05-18-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

No. 2020AP002007

In the Supreme Court of Wisconsin

CATHOLIC CHARITIES BUREAU, INC., BARRON COUNTY DEVELOPMENTAL SERVICES, INC., DIVERSIFIED SERVICES, INC., BLACK RIVER INDUSTRIES, INC., AND HEADWATERS, INC., *Petitioners-Respondents-Petitioners*,

v.

STATE OF WISCONSIN LABOR AND INDUSTRY REVIEW COMMISSION, Respondent-Co-Appellant,

> STATE OF WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT, Respondent-Appellant.

On appeal from the Court of Appeals reversing the Douglas County Circuit Court The Hon. Kelly J. Thimm, presiding Case No. 2019CV000324

OPENING BRIEF OF PETITIONERS-RESPONDENTS-PETITIONERS

٠

INTRODUCTION

Wisconsin law exempts from its unemployment compensation system all nonprofits "operated . . . by a church" and "operated primarily for religious purposes." Wis. Stat. § 108.02(15)(h)(2). Catholic Charities Bureau of the Diocese of Superior (CCB)—one of Wisconsin's largest religious charitable organizations—sought to claim this exemption so it could join the Wisconsin Catholic Church's own unemployment compensation system. It is undisputed that the bishop of the Diocese of Superior exercises direct control over CCB and that the Diocese operates CCB for a religious purpose: to serve as the social ministry arm of the Catholic Church.

But all that was not enough for the Labor and Industry Review Commission (LIRC) or the court of appeals. Both held that CCB was *not* "operated primarily for religious purposes" under Wisconsin law and thus did not qualify for this religious exemption, leading to the absurd conclusion that the charitable arm of a Catholic diocese is not "religious enough" to qualify for the "religious purposes" exemption. Even worse, they faulted CCB for helping all those in need, rather than just helping Catholics.

To reach that remarkable conclusion, LIRC and the court of appeals relied on two equally remarkable—and false—premises of law.

First, they determined that the purposes of the Diocese in operating CCB are irrelevant to determining whether CCB is operated for "religious purposes," thus severing CCB and its sub-entities from the religious mission of the Diocese. But CCB and its subentities are entirely creatures of the Diocese—and of the broader Catholic Church. As the court of appeals acknowledged, LIRC does not dispute, and CCB's name indicates, the Diocese formed CCB specifically to carry out its religiously mandated social ministry. CCB's purposes and the Diocese's are thus one and the same. The court of appeals' conclusion to the contrary is plain error and flies in the face of both common sense and the typical treatment of parent-subsidiary relationships in Wisconsin.

Second, the court of appeals and LIRC held that the word "operated" in the statutory phrase "operated primarily for religious purposes" means "actions" or "activities," rather than the more obvious and contextual meaning of "managed" or "used." This attempt to shoehorn the word chosen by the Legislature into a subsidiary meaning found on Dictionary.com is untenable, particularly when read *in pari materia* with the other provisions of the statute.

Those errors of law run directly counter to the text, structure, and context of Section 108.02(15)(h). A straightforward reading of the text confirms this Court should look to the undisputed religious purposes of the Diocese—the entity operating CCB and its sub-entities—to determine if CCB is "operated primarily for religious purposes." This Court should also reject LIRC's attempt to scrutinize the individual "activities" or "actions" of religious nonprofits, rather than looking to the *reason why* the entities engage in those activities. As detailed below, a straightforward interpretation of the text confirms that courts should look only to the *religious purposes*—a term that undisputedly refers to the reasons for which the nonprofit is operated—when determining whether an organization satisfies the religious purposes prong of the exemption.

Adopting LIRC's contrary interpretation would not only distort Section 108.02(15)(h); it would also put the statute at odds with the First Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 18 of the Wisconsin Constitution in three ways.

First, LIRC's interpretation violates the church autonomy doctrine, which reserves a sphere of control over internal church affairs to religious bodies. Here, the court of appeals effectively severed CCB from the Diocese of Superior and the broader Catholic Church for purposes of Section 108.02(15)(h). That grossly interferes with the ability of the Church in this State to structure itself freely in accordance with its beliefs about religious polity.

Second, LIRC's interpretation violates the Free Exercise Clause by penalizing CCB for serving non-Catholics and for not proselytizing when engaging in ministry. CCB's undisputed belief that the Church ought to help all who are in need without proselytizing is core to Catholic social teaching. Yet LIRC argued, and the court of appeals held, that these beliefs disqualified CCB from Section 108.02(15)(h)'s exemption. That burdens CCB's religious exercise in violation of the Free Exercise Clause.

Third, the decision violates the Establishment Clause by entangling Church and State. By forcing Wisconsin executive branch officials and Wisconsin courts to finely parse all the activities of religious bodies in the State and decide whether those activities are "inherently" or "primarily" religious, the court of appeals has thrust those officials and courts into a constitutional thicket. That is the opposite of church-state separation.

This Court can avoid this constitutional conundrum by following the plain language of Section 108.02(15)(h) and confirming that CCB and its sub-entities are exempt as nonprofit "organization[s] operated primarily for religious purposes."

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Whether Wisconsin's unemployment insurance law, which exempts "an organization operated primarily for religious purposes," exempts Petitioners.

The circuit court answered yes.

The court of appeals answered no.

2. Whether the court of appeals' interpretation of the religious exemption to Wisconsin's unemployment insurance law violates the First Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 18 of the Wisconsin Constitution.

The circuit court did not address this issue because it found Petitioners exempt.

The court of appeals answered no.

ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

By granting the petition for review, this Court has indicated the case is appropriate for oral argument and publication.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Wisconsin's unemployment compensation system and the religious purposes exemption.

Enacted in 1932, the Wisconsin Unemployment Compensation Act was the first unemployment insurance law in the United States, providing temporary benefits to eligible unemployed workers.¹ Wis. Stat. §§ 108.01 *et seq.* The program is jointly financed through state and federal taxes on covered employers. Wisconsin law requires covered employers to contribute to an account with the State's unemployment reserve fund. *Id.* § 108.18. Benefits paid to a former employee are generally charged to the employer's reserve fund account. *Id.* § 108.03(1).

In 1972, the Legislature exempted certain religious nonprofits from this law. 1971 Wis. Act 53. As amended, Wisconsin law exempts services performed for certain organizations from the definition of covered "employment":

(h) "Employment" as applied to work for a nonprofit organization, except as such organization duly elects otherwise with the department's approval, does not include service:

1. In the employ of a church or convention or association of churches; [or]

2. In the employ of *an organization operated primarily for religious purposes* and operated, supervised, controlled, or principally supported by a church or convention or association of churches[.]

Wis. Stat. § 108.02(15)(h)(1)-(2) (emphasis added).

It is undisputed that Catholic Charities Bureau and its sub-entities are "operated, supervised, controlled, or principally supported by a church." App.112, 149. The only dispute is whether they are "operated primarily for religious purposes." App.017.

¹ See generally E.E. Muntz, An Analysis of the Wisconsin Unemployment Compensation Act, 22 Am. Econ. Rev. 414 (1932).

B. The Catholic Church and its religious ministries in Wisconsin.

The Catholic Church organizes itself geographically by diocese. Archbishops and bishops oversee all Catholic parishes, schools, hospitals, and social ministries within their respective dioceses. *See* R.99:15-16; R.100:30-31.

Catholic teaching "demand[s]" that Catholics "respond . . . in charity to those in need." R.99:19-20. The Catechism of the Catholic Church and the Compendium of the Social Doctrine of the Church are the "foundational," "authoritative" sources of Catholic doctrine and teaching. R.99:19-21. These texts provide the "Ten Principles of Catholic Social Teaching," which include human dignity, participation, subsidiarity, preferential protection for the poor and vulnerable, and common good. App.085, 148, 179. These principles "guide and direct the action[s] of the church." R.99:22.

Charity is "the greatest" of the Catholic Church's theological virtues, above faith and hope. Catechism of the Catholic Church ¶ 1826 ("Charity is superior to all the virtues."). Charity is "the new commandment" of the Church, established by Jesus Christ. Id. ¶ 1823. Charity accordingly is "a constitutive element of the Church's mission and an indispensable expression of her very being." Pope Benedict XVI, Apostolic Letter Issued 'Motu Proprio' on the Service of Charity (Nov. 11, 2012); see also Pope Benedict XVI, Deus Caritas Est ¶ 32 (2005) ("[Charity] has been an essential part of [the Church's] mission from the very beginning."). The Catholic Church "claims works of charity as its own inalienable duty and right." Pope Paul VI, Apostolicam Actuositatem ¶ 8 (1965). The Church's mandate of charity "must embrace the entire human race." Pontifical Council for Justice and Peace, *Compendium* of the Social Doctrine of the Church ¶ 581 (2004). The Church therefore instructs that charity should be exercised "in an impartial manner towards" "members of other religions." Congregation for Bishops, *Directory for the Pastoral Ministry of Bishops "Apostolorum Successores"* ¶ 208 (2004); see also Pope Francis, *Apostolic Exhortation Evangelii Gaudium* ¶ 181 (2013) ("[The Church's] mandate of charity encompasses all dimensions of existence, all individuals, all areas of community life, and all peoples."). For this reason, the Church's "charitable enterprises can and should reach out to all persons and all needs." *Apostolicam Actuositatem* ¶ 8.

Charity, moreover, "cannot be used as a means of engaging in . . . proselytism." *Deus Caritas Est* ¶ 31; *see also Apostolorum Successores* ¶ 196 (instructing not to "misus[e] works of charity for purposes of proselytism"). As Pope Benedict XVI explained, "Those who practise charity in the Church's name will never seek to impose the Church's faith upon others." *Deus Caritas Est* ¶ 31. And as Pope Francis has written, "The Church's missionary spirit is not about proselytizing, but the testimony of a life that illuminates the path, which brings hope and love." *Message of Pope Francis for World Mission Day 2013* ¶ 4 (2013).

To carry out the Church's mandate of charity, each diocese operates a nonprofit social ministry arm—typically called "Catholic Charities." App.110, 142; *see Apostolorum Successores* ¶ 195. Catholic Charities' mission generally "is to provide service to people in need, to advocate for justice in social structures, and to call the entire church and other people of goodwill to do the same." R.57:1, 5.

Petitioner Catholic Charities Bureau is the social ministry arm of the Diocese of Superior. App.177. Its mission is "[t]o carry on the redeeming work of our Lord by reflecting gospel values and the moral teaching of the church." App.182, 206. CCB carries out this mission by "providing services to the poor and disadvantaged as an expression of the social ministry of the Catholic Church." App.183, 208. Its purpose is "to be an effective sign of the charity of Christ" by providing services without making distinctions "by race, sex, or religion in reference to clients served, staff employed and board members appointed." App.183, 208. CCB pledges that it "will in its activities and actions reflect gospel values and will be consistent with its mission and the mission of the Diocese of Superior." App.184-85, 207.

CCB operates dozens of programs in service to the elderly, the disabled, the poor, and those in need of disaster relief. App.178. Petitioners Headwaters, Barron County Developmental Services, Diversified Services, and Black River Industries are CCB sub-entities that provide services primarily to developmentally disabled individuals. R.65:17-18, 57-58; R.100:187-88, 256-57.

The bishop of the Diocese of Superior has plenary control over CCB and its sub-entities: "the entire organization begins and ends with [him]." R.100:55, 62, 130. He serves as president of CCB and appoints its "membership," which consists of leading diocesan

clergy and the executive director. App.198-99. The bishop also appoints the boards of directors of CCB and its sub-entities. App.201, 203.

CCB's membership oversees the ministry and its sub-entities to ensure fulfillment of CCB's mission in compliance with Catholic social teaching. App.199. Each sub-entity signs CCB's *Guiding Principles of Corporate Affiliation*, which gives CCB responsibility over many of the sub-entity's major operating decisions. App.203-04. CCB and its sub-entities are directed to comply fully with Catholic social teaching in providing services. App.204; R.100:130-31. And all new "key staff and director-level positions" receive a manual entitled *The Social Ministry of Catholic Charities Bureau of the Diocese of Superior*, which they must review during orientation. R.100:74, 135-36. In addition, every new employee receives a welcome letter with the Catholic Charities Bureau's mission statement, code of ethics, and statement of philosophy. R.100:79-80, 150; see App.205-08, 229-32. All employees are instructed to abide by these documents. R.100:80, 149.

The Diocese of Superior, CCB, and CCB's sub-entities are federally tax-exempt under 26 U.S.C. § 501(c)(3) pursuant to a "group ruling" by the IRS that the organizations operate "exclusively for religious . . . purposes." App.186-94.

C. Catholic Charities Bureau's attempts to participate in a Church-run unemployment assistance program.

For the Catholic Church, "[t]he obligation to provide unemployment benefits . . . spring[s] from the fundamental principle of the moral order in this sphere." App.211 (quoting St. Pope John Paul II, *Laborem Exercens* (1981)). Accordingly, in 1986, the Wisconsin bishops created the Church Unemployment Pay Program "to assist parishes, schools and other church employers in meeting their social justice responsibilities by providing church-funded unemployment coverage," in accordance with Catholic teaching. App.211. The Church's program provides the same level of benefits to unemployed individuals as the State's system while being "more efficient." R.100:125; App.214.

CCB and its sub-entities would be eligible for the Church's program if released from the State's. R.100:50. Were CCB to switch from the State's program to the Church's program, it would save funds that could be redirected to CCB's religious mission.

In 2001, the Department of Workforce Development (DWD) determined that Challenge Center—one of CCB sub-entities not involved in this case—was "a church-related entity" and qualified for the religious purposes exemption. App.244. Challenge Center then paid into the Church-run unemployment program. App.244.

In light of this determination, in 2003, CCB requested to withdraw from the State's program, citing the religious purposes exemption and its intent to join the Church's program. App.215. DWD denied the request, and the Labor and Industry Review Commission (LIRC) affirmed. App.216-24.

In 2013, DWD "changed its earlier determination and concluded [Challenge Center] was not operated for a religious purpose." App.244. "This change in its position by DWD occurred with-

out any change in the law or without any change in the way [Challenge Center] conducted its business." App.244. LIRC upheld DWD's new determination. App.244.

The circuit court (Glonek, J.) reversed LIRC's decision, holding that Challenge Center qualified for the religious purposes exemption. App.243-51. After considering "why the organization is operating," the court held that Challenge Center's purpose is primarily religious because it is "organized by the Bishop for a traditional Catholic purpose," "as demanded by the Catechism and [Catholic] Social Doctrine," to provide not-for-profit services to disadvantaged people. App.249-50. DWD and LIRC did not appeal. *See* App.075.

D. The proceedings below.

In 2016, Petitioners sought a determination from DWD that, like Challenge Center, they qualify for the religious purposes exemption. App.233-35. DWD, however, concluded that Catholic Charities Bureau and its sub-entities are not operated primarily for religious purposes and therefore are not exempt from the State's program. App.166-75. CCB appealed. After a two-day hearing, the administrative law judge (Galvin, J.) reversed, holding that CCB and its sub-entities qualify for the religious purposes exemption. App.134-65.

DWD petitioned LIRC for review. LIRC reversed, holding that the religious purposes exemption turns on an organization's "activities, not the religious motivation behind them or the organization's founding principles." App.100, 108, 116, 124, 133. And because CCB and its sub-entities "provide[] essentially secular services and engage[] in activities that are not religious per se," LIRC concluded that they do not qualify. App.099, 108, 116, 124, 132.

CCB sought review in circuit court. The court (Thimm, J.) then reversed LIRC's decision, holding that under the "plain language" and "plain meaning" of the statute, "the test is really why the organizations are operating, not what they are operating." App.088-89. And since CCB and its sub-entities operate out "of th[e] religious motive of the Catholic Church... of serving the underserved," their primary purposes are religious. App.087.

DWD and LIRC appealed. In December 2021, the court of appeals (Stark, P.J., Hruz and Gill, JJ.) certified the case to this Court. App.044. This Court refused certification. R.123:1. The court of appeals then reversed the circuit court's order and reinstated LIRC's decision. App.008.

The court of appeals held that "under a plain language reading of the statute," to qualify for the religious purposes exemption, "the organization must not only have a religious motivation, but the services provided—its activities—must also be primarily religious in nature." App.025. It therefore concluded that although CCB and its sub-entities "have a professed religious motivation . . . to fulfill the Catechism of the Catholic Church," their "activities . . . are the provision of charitable social services that are neither inherently or primarily religious activities." App.039-40. The court pointed to the fact that the organizations do not, *inter alia*, "operate to inculcate the Catholic faith," "teach[] the Catholic religion," "evangeliz[e]," "disseminate any religious material to [social service] participants," or "require their employees, participants, or board members to be of the Catholic faith." App.040-41. The court viewed CCB and its sub-entities' "motives and activities separate from those of the church" simply because they "are structured as separate corporations." App.042.

The court of appeals further held that "the First Amendment is not implicated in this case," rejecting CCB's constitutional arguments. App.008, 034-35. It reasoned that its interpretation of the religious purposes exemption does not "penalize, infringe, or prohibit any conduct of the organizations based on religious motivations, practice, or beliefs," eliminating any "free exercise concern." App.036. And its purported "neutral review based on objective criteria" "avoid[ed] excessive entanglement" under the Establishment Clause. App.038.

CCB petitioned this Court for review. The court of appeals then withdrew its decision, issued a revised one (leaving its statutory and constitutional analysis unchanged), and ordered it published. App.006. All parties agreed to stand on their previously filed papers. This Court then granted review.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

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