Page 1 of 47

FILED 06-07-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2020AP002007

Catholic Charities Bureau, Inc., Barron County Developmental Services, Inc., Diversified Services, Inc., Black River Industries, Inc., and Headwaters, Inc., Petitioners-Respondents-Petitioners,

v.

State of Wisconsin Labor and Industry Review Commission, Respondent-Co-Appellant, State of Wisconsin Department of Workforce Development, Respondent-Appellant.

> ON APPEAL FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT 3 REVERSING AN ORDER OF THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR DOUGLAS COUNTY, HONORABLE KELLY J. THIMM Circuit Court Case No. 2019CV000324

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

ARGUMENT

The employers provide **secular** social services to the public but insist that they should be exempt from unemployment insurance coverage based on a statute that only exempts nonprofits operated primarily for **religious** purposes. The employers' interpretation of the "operated primarily for religious purposes" clause is unreasonable because their interpretation does not give meaning to the entire statute, contradicts the legislative history, departs from the manner in which the word "purposes" is used in connection with religious activities in other statutes, and is inconsistent with this Court's decision in *Coulee Catholic Schools v. LIRC*.⁵

The commission correctly held that the employers' activities, rather than the religious motivation behind them, determine whether an exemption for participation in the unemployment insurance program is warranted. Finally, the Wisconsin and U.S. Constitutions permit laws of general application, like the unemployment insurance law, to be applied to employers affiliated with religious entities.⁶ Accordingly, this Court should confirm the commission's decisions.

I. Scope and standard of review

This Court reviews the commission's decision rather than the decision of the court of appeals. *Heritage Mutual Ins. Co. v. Larsen*, 2001 WI 30, ¶ 25, n.13, 242 Wis. 2d 47, 624 N.W.2d 129. However, it may benefit from the lower court's analysis. *Id.*

A commission unemployment decision may only be set aside on limited grounds:

- 1. That the commission acted without or in excess of its powers.
- 2. That the order or award was procured by fraud.
- 3. That the findings of fact by the commission do not support the order.

⁵ 2009 WI 88, 320 Wis. 2d 275, 768 N.W.2d 868.

⁶ See Coulee, 320 Wis. 2d 275, ¶ 65.

Page 15 of 47

Wis. Stat. § 108.09(7)(c)6. Whether an employer has proven that it is exempt from coverage under the state unemployment system is a mixed question of law and fact. *Nottelson v. DILHR*, 94 Wis. 2d 106, 287 N.W.2d 763 (1980).

A. The commission's findings of fact and determinations as to the weight and credibility of evidence are conclusive upon reviewing courts.

Review of the commission's findings of fact is significantly limited. *Heritage Mutual*, 2001 WI 30, ¶ 24. Findings of fact made by the commission under chapter 108, the unemployment insurance law, are conclusive if supported by any credible evidence in the record.

Courts review the commission's findings on appeal, not those of the administrative law judge. *Anheuser Busch, Inc. v. Indus. Comm'n*, 29 Wis. 2d 685, 692, 139 N.W.2d 652 (1966). The question is not whether there is evidence to support a finding that was not made, but whether there was evidence to support a finding that was, in fact, made by the commission. *Brickson v. DILHR*, 40 Wis. 2d 694, 699, 162 N.W.2d 600 (1968).

Substantial evidence is evidence that is relevant, credible, probative and of a quantum upon which a reasonable fact finder could base a decision. *Cornwell Personnel Assoc., Ltd. v. LIRC*, 175 Wis. 2d 537, 544, 499 N.W.2d 705 (Ct. App. 1993). Substantial evidence, for purposes of review of an unemployment insurance decision, does not require a preponderance of the evidence. The test is whether reasonable minds could arrive at the same conclusion the commission reached. *Holy Name Sch. v. DILHR*, 109 Wis. 2d 381, 386, 326 N.W.2d 121 (Ct. App. 1982).

In determining whether substantial evidence supports a finding, the evidence is to be construed most favorably to the commission's findings. *Cornwell Personnel*, 175 Wis. 2d at 544. No court may substitute its judgment for that of the commission as to the weight or credibility of the evidence on any finding of fact. Wis. Stat. § 108.09(7)(f).

The burden of showing that a commission decision is not supported by substantial and credible evidence is on the party seeking to have the decision set aside. *Xcel Energy Services, Inc. v. LIRC,* 2013 WI 64, ¶ 48, 349 Wis. 2d 234, 833 N.W.2d 665. A reviewing court, even though it has the complete record before it, has no authority to make its own findings of fact. *R.T. Madden, Inc. v. DILHR*, 43 Wis. 2d 528, 536-537, 169 N.W.2d 73 (1969). Here, the commission's factual findings are based on the actual, objective operations of the employers and are supported by substantial and credible evidence in the record. They are, therefore, conclusive on review.

B. The court applies a *de novo* standard of review to the commission's interpretation of law.

The determination of whether the facts, as found by the commission, fulfill a statutory standard is a question of law. *Bernhardt v. LIRC*, 207 Wis. 2d 292, 302-303, 558 N.W.2d 874 (Ct. App. 1996). The Wisconsin Supreme Court ended the practice of according deference to an administrative agency's interpretation of law. *See Tetra Tech EC, Inc. v. DOR*, 2018 WI 75, ¶ 108, 382 Wis. 2d 496, 914 N.W.2d 21.

The ultimate question of whether the employers are "operated primarily for religious purposes" and entitled to an exemption from Wisconsin's unemployment insurance program is dependent upon an interpretation of those terms as envisaged by the legislature and used in Wis. Stat. § 108.02(15)(h)2. Courts review *de novo* questions of statutory interpretation, *Tetra Tech*, 382 Wis. 2d 496, ¶ 84, but will give due weight to an agency's expertise, technical competence, and specialized knowledge where appropriate, *id.*, ¶ 3.

II. Under the exemption, the employers are not operated primarily for religious purposes because their activities are secular.

The employers operate for charitable, social services purposes. They rely primarily on government funding to provide programs for individuals with disabilities and individuals in need. They also contract with private companies to

provide services as part of their job training programs. The employers do not require their employees, program participants, or board members to be of the Catholic faith. The employers do not provide the participants with religious materials, training or devotional services and do not try to inculcate the Catholic Faith. (R100:97-98)

The commission correctly determined that the employers are operated primarily for secular social services purposes, not religious purposes. This Court should confirm the commission's decisions.

A. The unemployment insurance law is remedial in nature, designed by the Legislature to provide unemployment benefit coverage to wage earners, and must be interpreted to further the law's purpose.

"Statutes are interpreted in view of the purpose of the statute." *State v. Matasek,* 2014 WI 27, ¶ 13, 353 Wis. 2d 601, 846 N.W.2d 811. Wisconsin's unemployment insurance law embodies a strong public policy in favor of compensating the unemployed. "In good times and in bad times unemployment is a heavy social cost, directly affecting many thousands of wage earners." Wis. Stat. § 108.01(1). The purpose of the unemployment insurance law is to provide benefits to persons who have lost work through no fault of their own. "Hence, the statute is remedial in nature and should be liberally construed to effect unemployment compensation coverage for workers who are economically dependent upon others in respect to their wage-earning status." *Princess House, Inc. v. DILHR,* 111 Wis. 2d 46, 62, 330 N.W.2d 169 (1983). This Court reaffirmed this construction of the unemployment law in *Operton v. LIRC,* 2017 WI 46, ¶ 32, 375 Wis. 2d 1, 894 N.W.2d 426.

In order to construe the statute broadly in favor of coverage, this Court must narrowly construe the exemption. *McNeil v. Hansen,* 2007 WI 56, ¶ 10, 300 Wis. 2d 358, 731 N.W.2d 273. The exemption should be construed "with the general purpose of ch. 108 in mind." *Leissring v. DILHR*, 115 Wis. 2d 475, 484,

Page 18 of 47

340 N.W.2d 533 (1983) and "[T]he burden of proving entitlement to [a tax] exemption is on the one seeking the exemption. 'To be entitled to tax exemption the taxpayer must bring himself within the exact terms of the exemption statute.'"⁷ *Wauwatosa Ave. United Methodist Church v. City of Wauwatosa*, 2009 WI App 171, ¶ 7, 321 Wis. 2d 796, 776 N.W.2d 280 (citation omitted).

Here, a narrow interpretation of the exemption is warranted to protect employees' eligibility for unemployment benefits. Benefit eligibility is dependent on wages earned in non-exempt employment during the employee's base period.⁸ When a worker's wages are excluded because an employer is exempt, the employee's eligibility for unemployment benefits may be jeopardized or greatly reduced due to insufficient base period wages. This defeats the purpose of the unemployment insurance law, which is to protect wage earners.

Furthermore, unemployment insurance is a joint federal-state program. Federally-funded benefits provide additional assistance in times of high unemployment, but employees who are ineligible for regular unemployment insurance benefits do not qualify, in most instances, for additional federal assistance. The additional federal assistance, like other unemployment insurance benefits, is not only essential for the welfare of unemployed workers, but also to the economic vitality of the state. "The decreased and irregular purchasing power of wage earners in turn vitally affects the livelihood of farmers, merchants and manufacturers, results in a decreased demand for their products, and thus tends partially to paralyze the economic life of the entire state." Wis. Stat. § 108.01(1).

The employers assert that the parties agree that the Catholic Church Unemployment Program ("CCUP") provides equivalent benefits to the State's system. (Employers' brief 18 and 47) This is false. First, the CCUP system is not integrated into the State system. Employees in the CCUP system would not

⁷ Unemployment taxes are excise taxes. *U.S. v. Cleveland Indians Baseball Co.*, 532 U.S. 200, 204, 121 S. Ct. 1433, 149 L. Ed. 2d 401 (2001).

⁸ A claimant's base period is generally the first four of the five most recently completed calendar quarters. Wis. Stat. § 108.02(4).

Page 19 of 47

receive credit from the State for wages earned in exempt employment, resulting in no, or reduced, benefits. Furthermore, while part-time employees who worked fewer than 20 hours a week or employees who are furloughed may be eligible for benefits under Wis. Stat. ch. 108 based on wages earned from nonexempt employers, such employees are not eligible for benefits from CCUP. (R60:2-4) The state program also provides additional benefits in time of high unemployment.⁹

This Courts' interpretation of the subdivision will be applicable to all religiously-affiliated organizations and thus the CCUP program is "immaterial." *See Catholic Charities*, ¶ 38. ("This argument is a nonstarter. Whether an organization provides private unemployment insurance to its employees is not a factor under the religious purposes.") Wisconsin Stat. § 108.02(15)(h)2. must be interpreted narrowly to implement the remedial goals of chapter 108 so that employees of organizations such as the five employers receive unemployment benefits when they lose their jobs through no fault of their own.

B. The commission's decisions interpret the statute to fulfill the remedial goals of Wis. Stat. ch. 108.

1. The Court's focus must be on the employers' purposes, as shown by their activities.

The employers rewrite the exemption as applying to an organization "[managed or used] primarily for religious purposes [of a church.]" (Employers' brief 33) Their interpretation is contradicted by the language of the statute, adds words to the statute, would render the language at issue surplusage, and is inconsistent with the legislative history.

Statutory interpretation begins with the language of the statute. "Statutory language is given its common, ordinary and accepted meaning." *State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane Cty.*, 2004 WI 58, ¶ 45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110. Context is also important. *Id.* ¶ 46.

⁹ Wis. Stat. §§ 108.141 and 108.142.

Page 20 of 47

"Employment" is defined as any service performed by an individual for pay. Wis. Stat. § 108.02(15). Wisconsin Stat. § 108.02(15)(h) provides that employment, as applied to work for a nonprofit organization, does not include service performed in three separate instances. Under subdivision 1., employment does not include service performed for a church. Under subdivision 2., employment does not include service performed for entities meeting the two separate conditions in the subdivision. Under subdivision 3., employment does not include service performed as a minister. For each of these subdivisions, the noun phrase "employment as applied to work for a nonprofit organization" is the subject and "does not include" is the verbal phrase. "Service" combined with each of the three subdivisions are noun phrases that constitute the direct object.

The court of appeals defined "operate" as "to work, perform, or function," "to act effectively; produce an effect; exert force or influence," or "to perform some process of work or treatment." *Catholic Charities*, ¶ 23 (citing *Operate*, https://www.dictionary.com/browse/operate) The court thus held that the term "operate' connotes an action or activity." *Id*. The actions and activity are the services performed by the employers' employees.

The employers incorrectly argue that "operate" is a transitive verb in the "religious purposes" clause and thus the court of appeals used the wrong definition. "Operate" may be used as either a transitive or intransitive verb. When used as an intransitive verb, "operate" does not take a direct object, "although [an intransitive verb] may be followed by a prepositional phrase serving an adverbial function." Bryan A. Garner, *The Chicago Guide to Grammar, Usage, and Punctuation*, p. 71 (2016). (Supp-App. 4) In the phrase "organization operated primarily for religious purposes," "operated" is an intransitive verb and "primarily for religious purposes," is a prepositional phrase. *See, e.g., Union Tank Line Co. v. Richardson*, 183 Cal. 409, 412, 191 P. 697 (1920), (holding that "operate" was used intransitively in the statutory phrase "taxes levied upon railroads ... including

other car-loaning and other car companies **operating upon railroads** in this state...." (emphasis added)).

The intransitive use of "operated" in the exemption is illustrated by substituting an adverb such as "legally" for the phrase "for religious purposes." However, if "operated" were used as a transitive verb, the sentence would need a direct object. To make "operated" a transitive verb as the employers contend, the sentence would need to be written as "the church operated the organization." But that is not what the statute says.

The next word, "primarily," means "essentially; mostly; chiefly; principally" or "in the first instance; at first; originally." *Catholic Charities*, ¶ 23 (citing *Primarily*, https://www.dictionary.com/browse/primarily). Primarily is followed by "purposes," which has several definitions. Because the employers are corporations, Black's Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019) provides an appropriate definition of "purpose:" "[a]n objective, goal, or end; specif., the business activity that a corporation is chartered to engage in." The court of appeals stated that "[p]urpose" is also defined as "the reasons for which something exists or is done, made, used, etc." or "an intended or desired result; end; aim; goal." *Catholic Charities*, ¶ 23, citing *Purpose*, https://www.dictionary.com/browse/purpose. "Purpose can also mean 'something that one sets before himself [or herself] as an object to be attained' and 'an object, effect, or result aimed at, intended, or attained." *Id.*, citing *Purpose*, Webster's Third New Int'l Dictionary (unabr. 1993).

The key issue is the proper definition of "purposes." The employers' business activity, objectives, goals and ends are the provision of secular social services. The activities of the employers are properly considered to determine their purposes because the employers' "activities provide a useful indicia of the organization's purpose or purposes." *Living Faith, Inc. v. C.I.R.*, 950 F.2d 365, 372 (7th Cir. 1991). In this case, the employers operate to provide social services,

and their activities accomplish, through their employees' services, the employers' social services objectives or purposes.

Focusing on the employers' activities to determine their purpose is consistent with statutes restricting the use of public monies that state: "Limitations on use of funds for certain *purposes*. No funds provided directly to religious organizations by the [governmental entity] may be expended for sectarian worship, instruction, or proselytization." Wis. Stat. §§ 46.027(9), 49.114(9), 59.54(27)(j) and 301.065(9) (emphasis added). These statutes define impermissible **purposes** as certain religious **activities**.

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